

Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Honors Theses Lee Honors College

5-24-2021

A Review of the Effects of Virtual Communication on Performance and Satisfaction across the Last Ten Years of Research Published in the Journal of Organizational Behavior Management and the Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis

Muhammad Romail Khan Western Michigan University, romee1298@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/honors_theses



Part of the Other Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Khan, Muhammad Romail, "A Review of the Effects of Virtual Communication on Performance and Satisfaction across the Last Ten Years of Research Published in the Journal of Organizational Behavior Management and the Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis" (2021). Honors Theses. 3449. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/honors_theses/3449

This Honors Thesis-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Lee Honors College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.



A Review of the Effects of Virtual Communication on Performance and Satisfaction across
the Last Ten Years of Research Published in the Journal of Organizational Behavior
Management and the Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis

Muhammad Romail Khan

Department of Psychology, Western Michigan University

Work and school settings have seen an overall increase in the use of virtual communication technology over the last decade (Kiers, 2020). This use of virtual communication technologies has seen an unprecedented growth in the year 2020 owing to the shelter-in-place and lockdown measures put in place due to the COVID-19 global pandemic (World Health Organization, 2020). Despite this increase in the use of virtual communication technologies, limited research has been conducted on the effects of delivering behavioral interventions through different virtual communication technologies on performance and satisfaction. The purpose of this literature review is to analyze the research conducted on virtual communication in two applied behavior analytic journals in the last decade (2011-2020) and compare the effects of the various virtual delivery mechanisms of behavioral interventions on performance and satisfaction in work and school settings.

A Review of the Effects of Virtual Communication on Performance and Satisfaction across the Last Ten Years of Research Published in the Journal of Organizational Behavior Management and the Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis

by

Muhammad Romail Khan

An honors thesis submitted to the Lee Honors College
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Bachelor of Science
Department of Psychology
Western Michigan University

May 2021

Thesis Committee:

Heather McGee, Ph.D., Chair

Jonathan Hochmuth, M.A.

Juan Lopez, M.A.

Table of Contents

Non-Behavioral Research on Virtual Communication
Behavioral Research on Virtual Communication
The Current Study
METHOD
Coding Categories and Reasoning
Delivery Mechanism
Independent Variables (IVs)
Dependent Variables (DVs)
Setting
Intervention source
Participants
Results
Social satisfaction
Interobserver Agreement 19
REFERENCES 20

A Review of the Effects of Virtual Communication on Performance and Satisfaction across the Last Ten Years of Research Published in the Journal of Organizational Behavior Management and the Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis

The U.S. government and public health institutions set social distancing and personal hygiene guidelines in order to battle the COVID-19 pandemic in March of 2020 (World Health Organization, 2020). Each state went into lockdown through the state mandated shutdowns of offices, businesses, and schools (Wu et al., 2020). This caused many organizations and institutions to move to virtual instruction and working-from-home. With that, the opportunities to meet in person, talk face-to-face, and work together greatly diminished for both employees and students (Nguyen, 2020).

Though remote work was already on an upward trend before the pandemic (Kiers, 2020), the prevalence of remote work has increased significantly as a result of the state mandated shutdown. Until 2019, only 7% of civilian workers in the U.S. worked, at least in part, remotely. In April of 2020, 62% of Americans had worked online, figures that Pew states are double that of mid-March (Kiers, 2020; Pew Research Center, 2020).

Remote work in organizations uses virtual communication technology to exchange messages between two or more people. For this review, virtual communication is defined as any communication that is delivered via computer, smartphone, or other automated device.

Computer-mediated communication (CMC) is any kind of human communication that takes place through networked computers, and includes communication delivered by a person in real-time (e.g., videoconferencing) and through recorded videos and modules (e.g., computer-based instruction/training) (Lee & Oh, 2015). CMC involves the exchange of text, audio and/or video messages on a one-to-one, one-to-many and many-to-many formats (Lee & Oh, 2015). Thus,

virtual communication can be defined, as Berry (2011) does, as: "the process of transferring information, meaning, and understanding between two or more parties". For this study, virtual communication will be defined as people using the previously described technology to transfer this information, when they are not face-to-face.

Non-Behavioral Research on Virtual Communication

Researchers in other fields have completed comprehensive literature reviews on the research on virtual communication. Abarca et al. (2020) conducted a review of the journals available in the "Web of Science (WoS)" and "Scopus" databases. This review was published in the online engineering journal, *IEEE Access*. The two databases were reviewed to identify studies that: (a) described and dealt with any aspect of the communication, collaboration and coordination of virtual teams; (b) considered a virtual team as a relationship for communication, collaboration, and coordination between its members; (c) provided a clear link or contribution to the different aspects of communication, collaboration, and coordination in virtual teams; and (d) had main objectives that were clearly and sufficiently described and explained, and the methodology proposed appropriate steps to address the research problems and answer the research questions.

The authors conducted a systematic literature review (SLR) and a bibliometric analysis of research conducted between 2015 and 2019 on virtual teams working on programming projects. They used the search terms and keywords which included and were related to "virtual team(s)" and "virtual collaboration". The review focused on three main themes: (a) the main areas and topics of current research in virtual teams, (b) the main constructs that had been investigated in current research on virtual teams, and (c) the gaps in existing research and possible areas for future research.

The review found that the main topics of current research in virtual teams were those which used the keywords: "virtual reality", "management", and "project management", while the term "leadership" appeared the least. The constructs investigated were: the technology used for remote relationships (the delivery mechanism), trust (between members of a team), communication technologies used (e.g., Skype, WebEx), equipment needed for virtual communication (e.g., computers, tablets), leadership (how effective leaders were in inspiring the team), and education (about the importance of collaboration in virtual teams). The gaps in existing literature were: a lack of understanding of the new organization style of virtual teams owing to new technologies being developed for collaboration, and a lack of research concerning emotions and their influence on performance.

While this review provided insight along the three main themes, one limitation of the review was that it did not provide sufficient information about how this review could help guide future research. The authors aimed to prove that using a systematic literature review with a bibliometric review was effective in finding relevant articles for their study, but the review did not mention how the relevant articles found could help further research or be applied in real-world settings. Abarca et al. (2020) also did not provide any recommendations to virtual teams about how they could improve their communication via virtual delivery mechanisms, using the results of the review.

Layng (2016) analyzed studies published in business and management journals between the years 2000 and 2015 with a goal to help employers improve their virtual skills, and to correct communication breakdowns within virtual teams. The author included studies that: (a) set clear rules or expectations when using certain types of technology, (b) defined effective work completion, (c) laid out general team norms and expectations, (d) included timelines and

specified team member outcomes, and (e) used documentation systems. He found that team performance improved when the use of CMC was followed by face-to-face interactions between team members, but not when CMC was used alone. The author attributed this to the limited virtual communication media available at the turn of the 21st century. Layng (2016) observed from the articles that communication between team members was effective in improving performance only when face-to-face interactions preceded virtual communication. The author noted an increase in the effectiveness of virtual teams alone without face-to-face interactions as virtual communication technology advanced and became more sophisticated.

The review found that studies published in this time period predicted that businesses' and organizations' future success would depend on their ability to effectively use the ever-evolving virtual communication media to guide team performance. The review also concluded that most of the virtual communication that took place in organizations between 2000 and 2015 was text-based (e.g., emails, direct messages). Furthermore, it was found that video and audio communication became more common after video-conferencing software became more mainstream in the later years of the review (from 2010 to 2015). The author further argued that the challenges to virtual communication were trust, time conflict (when team members were working from different time zones), cultural differences (among teams with members from different countries/ethnicities), and the need for a "robust collaborative workspace" (the need for members of the team to actively engage in team meetings and collaborate among themselves without the need for manager intervention).

Behavioral Research on Virtual Communication

Since the beginning of the 21st century, there have been 30 literature reviews conducted in the *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management (JOBM)* and 49 literature reviews

conducted in the *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis (JABA)*. Of these, two reviews—one in JOBM (Johnson and Rubin, 2011) and one in JABA (Siravaman and Fahmie, 2020)—were related to virtual communication. Johnson and Rubin (2011) analyzed virtual communication in terms of computer-based instruction (CBI)—a CMC training package which involves videos and online modules. Siravaman and Fahmie analyzed virtual communication in terms of providing ABA-based telehealth services—which used videoconferencing to deliver behavioral interventions.

Johnson and Rubin (2011) searched the PsycINFO database for articles related to CBI published between the years 1995 and 2007. These articles were filtered and studies which compared interactive computer-based instruction with another form of instruction were included for further investigation. These included: (a) alternative interactive CBI methods, (b) non-interactive CBI, or (c) non-computer-based instruction, were included for further investigation. Studies were also only added if the participants of the studies were employees or employee analogs.

Based on the inclusion criteria, 79 studies were finalized for review. Of the 79 studies analyzed in the review, 42 compared interactive CBI with other instructional formats. Of these, 27 applications showed that participant performance improved through the use of interactive CBI (64.3%), 13 applications found no differences in performance between interactive CBI and other instructional formats or mixed results (31%), while two applications found that another instructional format improved performance over interactive CBI (4.8%). Hence, interactive CBI was found to be a better option than the comparative instructional alternatives (i.e., alternative interactive CBI methods, noninteractive CBI, or non-computer-based instruction) 95.2% of the time.

Sivaraman and Fahmie (2020) systematically reviewed cultural adaptations in the global application of ABA-based telehealth services outside of the United States. Their framework used for organization had three main themes: (a) community outreach, (b) changes in the structure and process of service delivery, and (c) adaptation of content. The inclusion criteria for the review was: participants were families living outside of the United States, measures of child or parent behavior were reported, and the treatment was behavior analytic and delivered via telehealth. The authors deemed 36 articles eligible. Nine of these studies were finalized for the review. The information extracted from the studies was: participant characteristics, procedural aspects of the study, barriers to telehealth/barriers to direct services reported, and results. These adaptations were coded into three broad categories, which were: community involvement, changes in the structure and process of delivery, and adaptations made to the content.

Overall, the results of the review showed that the most popular forms of adaptation were changes to the structure and process of service delivery, and the involvement of members from the community in the development or implementation of the training. The results further showed that eight out of nine studies involved members of the community in the development and implementation of the trainings. All nine studies featured changes in some aspect of the structure and process of service delivery while also matching the training language to that of the client. Two studies provided details about adaptation of content such as level of personal specificity and inclusion of cultural content. All nine studies reported the unavailability of ABA services and trained behavior analysts as a barrier to direct services. Seven out of nine studies reported problems related to poor internet connectivity. All nine studies reported parent/intervention fidelity measures while seven studies reported child behavior measure. Six out of nine studies conducted social validity data (each study scored the training favorably).

Sivaraman and Fahmie (2020) concluded that a lack of trained ABA practitioners in the clients' regions was a major barrier to direct services. All reviewed studies reported improvements in the fidelity of implementations for the adult participants. Two of the studies observed changes in child performance and the results reported desired behavior change in child participants for both studies. The authors of the review addressed the limitation of their review stating that though cultural adaptations in the reviewed studies were identified, data was not taken to evaluate which cultural adaptations were effective, how the adaptations worked together, and what impact the adaptations have on participant behavior. In terms of the delivery mechanism, the review asserted that delivering behavioral interventions via telehealth using delivery mechanisms such as videoconferencing showed high satisfaction among the adult recipients of the ABA-based training and services, while improving the performance of the child participants in the studies receiving ABA services. These results suggest that delivering behavioral interventions through virtual mechanisms improves performance and satisfaction.

Both JOBM and JABA have published various empirical studies that have analyzed virtual communication technology. For example, JOBM has published articles that assessed the effectiveness of using CBI (Chae et al., 2020: Day-Watkins et al., 2018; Fagerstrom, 2010; Jamison et al., 2014; Mailey et al., 2020; Pandey et al., 2016), and automated devices (Gravina et al., 2013; Goomas, 2012; Yu et al., 2013) to deliver behavioral interventions to improve performance. Similarly, JABA published studies that evaluated the effectiveness of using CBI (Brodhead et al., 2019; Clark et al., 2015; Critchfield, 2014; Curiel & Poling, 2019; ; Dallery et al., 2013; Downs et al., 2015; Dupere et al., 2013; Geiger et al., 2018; Higbee et al., 2016; Jarvis & Dallery, 2017; Koffarnus et al., 2013; Kurti & Dallery, 2013; Retzlaff et al., 2020; Rosales et al., 2015; Scheithauer et al., 2013; Schnell et al., 2018; Scott et al., 2018; Townsend, 2020;

Vladescu et al., 2012), smartphones (Dallery et al., 2021; Raiff et al., 2016), and automated devices (Stedman-Falls & Dallery, 2020) to deliver behavioral interventions to improve performance.

Despite the considerable research published in JOBM and JABA assessing virtual communication, there have been no literature reviews which compare the effects of the virtual communication medium used—for the delivery of behavioral interventions—on performance and satisfaction.. Hence, this review will add to the literature in applied behavior analysis (ABA) by systematically analyzing the aspects of virtual communication and its delivery mechanism which are able to affect performance and satisfaction.

The Current Study

The purpose of the current study will be to examine the effects of virtual communication media on the performance and satisfaction of people who work or study remotely. This review will add to the literature available on virtual communication in applied behavior analysis by providing an assessment of the effect that each medium of virtual communication has on participant performance and on satisfaction in remote work or remote learning settings.

Understanding the effects of these different approaches may help produce better work performance and learning outcomes as virtual communication becomes more common.

Method

The experimenter will review the PsycINFO database for all empirical studies published in JOBM and JABA over the past ten years (2011-2020). The results of the search will then be further filtered, and articles will be excluded if they meet any of the following conditions: (a) implemented in an analog or laboratory setting, (b) do not report empirical data, (c) book reviews, (d) discussion articles, or (e) conceptual papers. The resulting articles will be

downloaded and individually reviewed using the following search terms: virtual, remote, virtual communication, video-based, video-modeling, audio-based, computer-based (or CBI), smartphone, text-based, telehealth, email, eLearning, internet-based, web-based, online, technology-based. After this manual inspection of the filtered documents, the empirical studies which match any of the search terms will be reviewed.

Coding Categories and Reasoning

The articles will be analyzed in terms of evaluation parameters referred to as coding categories in this section. The use of these coding categories will form a basis for the critical comparison and analysis of the reviewed studies. Each study will be categorized based on its effects on participant performance and satisfaction. Researchers will code each article using the following on the basis of: (a) delivery mechanism, (b) independent variables (IV), (c) dependent variables (DV), (d) setting, (e) intervention source, (f) participant, (g) results, and (h) social satisfaction.

Delivery Mechanism

The virtual communication media used to deliver interventions may affect the discriminative effect of the antecedents and/or the reinforcing or punishing value of the consequences delivered. It is important for behavior analysis research to evaluate the delivery modalities used in virtual communication, and to assess their differential effectiveness in delivering antecedents and consequences. The delivery mechanism used for the interventions in each study of virtual communication will be further categorized into one of three broad categories of delivery mechanisms, which are: (a) computer-based, (b) phone-based, and (c) other element.

Computer-based. For the purpose of our review, a computer could be either a desktop computer, a laptop, or a tablet (iPad or android). Anticipated computer-based delivery mechanisms are: online modules, wireless scanners, software, video modules, web conferencing (through apps such as Zoom, WebEx), video modeling (with embedded instructions/ with voiceover instructions), and other (which will capture any computer-based delivery mechanisms not adequately captured by the aforementioned categories).

Phone-based. A phone-based delivery mechanism would deliver interventions using phone calls, instant messages, direct messages, downloaded applications, or text messages through smartphones (Android, Apple, Windows).

Other Element. An intervention delivered through a mechanism which is not computer-based or phone-based will be added to this category (e.g., a hand-held scanner).

Independent Variables (IVs)

By categorizing the independent variables (IVs) used in each study, future researchers will be provided with an overview identifying which behavioral interventions have been delivered via virtual communication technology in previous studies, how many times each intervention has been studied, and how effective each intervention is in changing behavior (improving performance). This may help future researchers decide whether it would be appropriate to choose interventions for their studies that have been assessed multiple times in the past. Furthermore, it may also identify opportunities for future researchers to replicate studies that may not have been researched sufficiently. Subsequently, this will help to find gaps in literature for interventions that have not yet been analyzed using virtual delivery methods. For example, if the review shows that feedback, as an IV, has been delivered virtually in a variety of studies and each study shows a constant effect of feedback on performance, this could mean that

there is little need for researchers to replicate a similar study as the effect would probably be the same. The anticipated interventions in these studies will be: training, feedback, prompts, authority relations, instructions, monetary incentives, functional analysis, task analysis, preference assessment et cetera.

Dependent Variables (DVs)

Similar to the IVs, it is important to categorize the dependent variable used in each reviewed study in order to discern the effect of the intervention, delivered virtually, on participants' performance. Doing so could help future researchers analyze whether changes in the DV being used in a study effectively translates to changes occurring in performance. This may guide future researchers to replicate a study using a different measurement of the DV which more accurately reflects changes in performance. For example, if studies that use "time between responses" as the DV consistently show mixed or no effects for various combinations of the other categories (i.e., various delivery mechanisms and settings), this can guide future researchers to investigate whether "time between responses" is an appropriate DV to measure for those interventions, or if future research should look at the interventions using other DVs. The anticipated dependent variables that will be identified in the current review are: scores on tests, percentage of steps implemented correctly, time elapsed to complete task, percentage of time spent on-task, resources consumed or saved, number of correct responses, percentage of correct responses, accuracy of implementation of steps, levels of dependent variable, number of times desired performance was reached et cetera.

Length of Study

Whether a study is effective in changing behavior or not can also be influenced by the length of time the study was conducted for. This means how long baseline data was taken for,

how long the intervention was, and how long data was taken for. For example, if baseline data for a study is taken for only a few days, the results obtained by experimenters from this data may be inaccurate due to confounding variables. This could result in either a Type-1 error or a "false positive" or a Type-2 error or a "false negative". Analyzing the length of each study reviewed can help guide research by ensuring that future studies record data for an adequate amount of time. The length of a study can be measured in: hours, days, weeks, months et cetera.

Follow-up Data

After an intervention used in a study in successfully implemented in a real-world setting, researchers may choose to return to the site of the intervention and take follow-up data. Follow-up data helps confirm or deny whether the intervention was able to persist in the real world for an extended period of time after the experimenters concluded the study. This may help guide future research by assessing the longevity of the intervention used in a study. There can be various reasons why a follow-up study could reveal that an intervention did not persist in the real-world setting. This can be due to increasing cost issues, employee dissatisfaction, issues with motivation et cetera.

Setting

It is important to distinguish the effects of the setting of a study on its effectiveness on performance and satisfaction. Different settings mean that different environmental factors may come into play and affect performance. For example, a video modeling intervention might be more effective in changing the behavior of a child with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) when it is delivered at their school than it would be if it were delivered in the child's home. This may be because the discriminative stimuli that occasion the child's behavior could be different in the school than they are at home. Hence, the work or school setting used in each study will be coded.

Each setting would be classified as either a school (i.e., K-12 schools and special education schools), a university, a home (i.e., client home, employee home), a healthcare clinic (e.g., autism center, disability center, old-age home, nursing home, hospital), community (for studies which recruited participants from the community via flyers or adds), an office (i.e., any setting with desk-related jobs), a manufacturing plants et cetera.

Intervention source

Intervention source means the person, or the technological device which delivers the antecedents and consequences to the participant(s). The effectiveness of an intervention, delivered virtually, can be affected by the intervention source. This is because one source may not be able to provide the same reinforcers or punishers to the participants that another source can (e.g., the reinforcing effect of attention from a parent might be different than the reinforcing effect of attention from a babysitter). This will aid future researchers in choosing effective intervention sources based on the participants used in future studies. These sources comprise of: (a) experimenters, (b) automated devices, (c) bosses (i.e., managers and supervisors), (e) employees, (f) teachers, et cetera.

Participants

The reinforcing or punishing value of a consequence can be affected by the sample of participants recruited, and hence affect the results of the study. Since every study focuses on one particular category of participants, it can be comprehended in that category and context only. For example, studies that used school children as participants cannot be replicated using participants who are employed adults. Therefore, it is very important to code each study with the relevant category of participants. This will have a two-fold advantage for future researchers. Firstly, they would be able to replicate studies belonging to the same category of participants, on different

data sets. Secondly, they would be able to identify research gaps that show which category needs further exploration and exploitation. Based on the initial inspection of the literature, anticipated participants will contain: students (K-12 and special ed students), employees (office or healthcare), administrative staff, parents (of individuals with autism), teachers (K-12 or special ed teachers), therapists (i.e., behavior analyst and counseling therapists), individuals with developmental disabilities (i.e., children with autism, adults with amnesia et cetera) and others (i-e., community members and participants who do not fall into any of the predetermined categories)

Results

The results section can guide future research by identifying the interventions which have resulted in a change in performance. This change could be an improvement in performance, worsening of performance, or no/mixed effects on performance. Furthermore, changes in performance need to be correlated with the other coded variables identified in the method section. For example, if there is a consistent improvement in performance as analyzed by different researchers, in different settings, for different IVs, and different categories of participants, while only the delivery mechanism (e.g., CBI) remains constant, this research can safely infer that CBI has been established as improving performance in diversified settings and environments. This can also help identify gaps in the literature if the performance does not consistently improve for a variable when other variables are changed. This would mean that researchers should try to explore other avenues in this research domain. This section will be coded as one of three categories: (a) performance improved, (b) performance worsened, or (c) no effect or mixed effects.

Performance improved. The results would be defined as improving performance when the intervention in the study being reviewed results in an increase in the desired performance over baseline for all participants. The desired performance would have to improve over baseline for all participants in the intervention group and not improve over baseline for the control group for the result to be coded as improving performance.

Performance worsened. The results would be defined as deteriorating performance when the intervention in the study being reviewed results in a decrease in the desired performance over baseline for all participants. The desired performance would have to deteriorate over baseline for all participants in the intervention group and either not be affected or improve over baseline for the control group for the result to be coded as deteriorating performance.

No effect or mixed effects. The results would be defined as not affecting performance when the desired performance does not change over baseline for any of the participants. Slight variation in the performance is typical even during baseline, but as long as the change is deemed to be statistically significant by the experimenters, the result will be coded as "not affecting performance".

Social satisfaction

Social Satisfaction measures include efforts to collect participants' opinions about the experiment to assess whether the participants were satisfied with the intervention. These are important as they help to assess the social validity of a study, which predicts the chances of the intervention being implemented in the real-world setting. Studies reporting higher social validity have a better chance of their intervention being implemented and maintaining over time after the conclusion of the experiment. Hence, studies reviewed will be coded by whether the researchers

took social satisfaction data (took steps to collect and analyze social satisfaction data to see whether the effects of the study are seen as satisfying to the participants), or not. For the studies that did take social satisfaction data, the results of the social satisfaction data will be coded as either: (a) satisfied (if every participant in the study reports being satisfied with the intervention and delivery mechanism), (b) dissatisfied (if every participant in the study reports being dissatisfied with the intervention and delivery mechanism), and (c) mixed results (if some participants report being satisfied, while others report being dissatisfied with the intervention and delivery mechanism)

Interobserver Agreement

To ensure accuracy of data and agreement between authors, a research assistant will independently review 40% of the articles. For every category described above, interobserver agreement (IOA) will be conducted using the total agreement method by dividing the number of agreements by the total number of agreements plus disagreements and then multiplying by 100%. If there are any discrepancies between the results of the two reviews, the primary author and the secondary author will discuss and come to a unanimous decision regarding the studies in question.

References

- Abarca, V. M. G., Palos-Sanchez, P. R., & Rus-Arias, E. (2020). Working in virtual teams: a systematic literature review and a bibliometric analysis. *IEEE Access*, 8, 168923-168940. https://doi.org/10.1109/2020.3023546
- Balcazar, F., Hopkins, B. L., & Suarez, Y. (1985). A critical, objective review of performance feedback. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 7(3-4), 65-89. https://doi.org/10.1300/J075v07n03_05
- Barkaia, A., Stokes, T. F., & Mikiashvili, T. (2017). Intercontinental telehealth coaching of therapists to improve verbalizations by children with autism. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 50(3), 582-589. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.391
- Berry, G. R. (2011) Enhancing effectiveness on virtual teams: Understanding why traditional team skills are insufficient. *Journal of Business Communication*, 48(2), 186-206. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021943610397270
- Brodhead, M. T., Kim, S. Y., & Rispoli, M. J. (2019). Further examination of video-based preference assessments without contingent access. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 52(1), 258-270. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.507
- Clark, D. R., Donaldson, J. M., & Kahng, S. (2015). Are video-based preference assessments without access to selected stimuli effective? *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 48(4), 895-900. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.246
- Cricthfield, T. S. (2014). Online equivalence-based instruction about statistical inference using written explanation instead of match-to-sample training. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 47(3), 606-11. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.150

- Curiel, H., & Poling, A. (2019). Web-based stimulus preference assessment and reinforcer assessment for videos. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 52(3), 796-803. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.593
- Dallery, J., Raiff, B. R., & Grabinski, M. J. (2013). Internet-based contingency management to promote smoking cessation: a randomized controlled study. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 46(4), 750-64. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.89
- Dallery, J., Stinson, L., Bolívar, H., Modave, F., Salloum, R. G., Viramontes, T. M., & Rohilla, P. (2021). mMotiv8: A smartphone-based contingency management intervention to promote smoking cessation. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 54(1), 38-53. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.800
- Day-Watkins, J., Pallathra, A. A., Connell, J. E., & Brodkin, E. S. (2018) Behavior skills training with voice-over video modeling. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 38(2-3), 258-273. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2018.1454871
- Downs, H. E., Miltenberger, R., Biedronski, J., & Witherspoon, L. (2015). The effects of video self-evaluation on skill acquisition with yoga postures. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 48(4), 930-935. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.248
- Duarte, D. L., & Snyder, N. T. (2001) Mastering virtual teams: Strategies, tools, and techniques that succeed (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Dupere, S., Macdonald, R. P. F., & Ahearn, W. H. (2013). Using video modeling with substitutable loops to teach varied play to children with autism. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 46(3), 662-8. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.68

- Ezzeddine, E. W., DeBar, R. M., Reeve, S. A., & Townsend, D. B. (2020). Using video modeling to teach play comments to dyads with ASD. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 53(2), 767-781. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.621
- Fagerstrøm, A. (2010). The motivating effect of antecedent stimuli on the web shop: a conjoint analysis of the impact of antecedent stimuli at the point of online purchase. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 30(2), 199-220.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061003756562
- Fisher, W. W., Luczynski, K. C., Blowers, A. P., Vosters, M. E., Pisman, M. D., Craig, A. R., Piazza, C. C. (2020). A randomized clinical trial of a virtual-training program for teaching applied-behavior-analysis skills to parents of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 53(4), 1856-1875.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.778
- Frost, C., 2021. What is virtual communication technology? *Techwalla*.

 https://www.techwalla.com/articles/what-is-virtual-communication-technology
- Gazor, H. (2012). A literature review on challenges of virtua team's leadership. *Journal of Sociological Research*, 3(2). https://doi.org/10.5296/jsr.v3i2.2247
- Geiger, K. B., LeBlanc, L. A., Hubik, K., Jenkins, S. R., & Carr, J. E. (2018). Live training versus e-learning to teach implementation of listener response programs. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 51(2), 220-235. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.444
- Goomas, D. T. (2012). Immediate feedback on accuracy and performance: the effects of wireless technology on food safety tracking at a distribution center. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 32(4), 320-328.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2012.729391

- Gravina, N. E., Loewy, S., Rice, A. & Austin, J. (2013) Evaluating behavioral self-monitoring with accuracy training for changing computer work postures. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 33(1), 68-76. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2012.729397
- Higbee, T. S., Aporta, A. P., Resende, A., Nogueira, M., Goyos, C., & Pollard, J. S. (2016).

 Interactive computer training to teach discrete-trial instruction to undergraduates and special educators in brazil: A replication and extension. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 49(4), 780-793. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.329
- Jamison et al., (2014). Impact of an overt response system on staff performance and maintenance of computer-based instruction. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 34(4), 279-290. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2014.973630
- Jarvis, B. P., & Dallery, J. (2017). Internet-based self-tailored deposit contracts to promote smoking reduction and abstinence. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 50(2), 189-205. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.377
- Johnson, D. A., & Rubin, S. (2011). Effectiveness of interactive computer-based instruction: a review of studies published between 1995 and 2007. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 31(1), 55-94. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2010.541821
- Kier, L. (2020, July 15). *Using virtual communication to powerfully connect companies and employees*. Forbes.

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbescommunicationscouncil/2020/07/16/using-virtual-communication-to-powerfully-connect-companies-and-employees/?sh=56278acd308b
- Koffarnus, M. N., Defulio, A., Sigurdsson, S. O., & Silverman, K. (2013). Performance pay improves engagement, progress, and satisfaction in computer-based job skills training of

- low-income adults. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 46(2), 395-406. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.51
- Kurti, A. N., & Dallery, J. (2013). Internet-based contingency management increases walking in sedentary adults. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 46(3), 568-81. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.58
- Layng, J. M. (2016). The virtual communication aspect: a critical review of virtual studies over the last 15 years. *Journal of Literacy and Technology*, *17*(3). 172-218. http://www.literacyandtechnology.org/uploads/1/3/6/8/136889/jlt_v16_3_layng.pdf
- Lee, Eun-Ju, & Oh, Soo Youn. (2015). Computer-mediated communication. *Oxford Bibliographies*. https://doi.org/10.1093/OBO/9780199756841-0160
- Mailey, C., Day-Watkins, J., Pallathra, A. A., Eckerman, D. A., Brodkin, E. S. & Connell, J. E. (2020): Using adaptive computer-based instruction to teach staff to implement a social skills intervention, *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2020.1776807
- Nguyen, M. H., Gruber, J., Fuchs, J., Marler, W., Hunsaker, A., & Hargittai, E. (2020). Changes in digital communication during the covid-19 global pandemic: implications for digital inequality and future research. *Social Media + Society*, *6*(3).

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120948255
- Pellegrino, A. J., & DiGennaro Reed, F. D. (2020). Using telehealth to teach valued skills to adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 53(3), 1276-1289. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.734
- Peterson, K. M., Ibañez, V. F., Volkert, V. M., Zeleny, J. R., Engler, C. W., & Piazza, C. C. (2021). Using telehealth to provide outpatient follow-up to children with

- avoidant/restrictive food intake disorder. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, *54*(1), 6-24. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.794
- Pew Research Center (2020). Before the coronavirus, telework was an optional benefit, mostly for the affluent few. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/03/20/before-the-coronavirus-telework-was-an-optional-benefit-mostly-for-the-affluent-few
- Raiff, B. R., Jarvis, B. P., & Dallery, J. (2016). Text-message reminders plus incentives increase adherence to antidiabetic medication in adults with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 49(4), 947-953. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.337
- Retzlaff, B. J., Phillips, L. A., Fisher, W. W., Hardee, A. M., & Fuhrman, A. M. (2020). Using elearning modules to teach ongoing-visual inspection of functional analyses. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 53(4), 2126-2138. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.719
- Rosales, R., Gongola, L., & Homlitas, C. (2015). An evaluation of video modeling with embedded instructions to teach implementation of stimulus preference assessments.

 **Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 48(1), 209-214. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.174*
- Scheithauer, M. C., Tiger, J. H., & Miller, S. J. (2013). On the efficacy of a computer-based program to teach visual braille reading. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 46(2), 436-43. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.48
- Schnell, L. K., Sidener, T. M., DeBar, R. M., Vladescu, J. C., & Kahng, S. (2018). Effects of computer-based training on procedural modifications to standard functional analyses.

 *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 51(1), 87-98. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.423

- Scott, J., Lerman, D. C., & Luck, K. (2018). Computer-based training to detect antecedents and consequences of problem behavior. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 51(4), 784-801. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.495
- Schieltz, K. M., & Wacker, D. P. (2020). Functional assessment and function-based treatment delivered via telehealth: A brief summary. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, *53*(3), 1242-1258. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.742
- Sigurdsson, S. O., Ring, B. M., Needham, M., Boscoe, J. H., & Silverman, K. (2011).

 Generalization of posture training to computer workstations in an applied setting. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 44(1), 157-161. https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.2011.44-157
- Sivaraman, M., Virues-Ortega, J., & Roeyers, H. (2021). Telehealth mask wearing training for children with autism during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Applied Behavior*Analysis, 54(1), 70-86. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.802
- Stedman-Falls, L. M., & Dallery, J. (2020). Technology-based versus in-person deposit contract treatments for promoting physical activity. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, *53*(4), 1904-1921. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.776
- Vladescu, J. C., Carroll, R., Paden, A., & Kodak, T. M. (2012). The effects of video modeling with voiceover instruction on accurate implementation of discrete-trial instruction.

 Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, 45(2), 419-423.

 https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.2012.45-419
- Wacker, D. P., Lee, J. F., Dalmau, Y. C. P., Kopelman, T. G., Lindgren, S. D., Kuhle, J., . . .
 Waldron, D. B. (2013). Conducting functional analyses of problem behavior via telehealth. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 46(1), 31-46.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.29

- World Health Organization. (2020). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public. https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public
- Wu, J., Smith, S., Khurana, M., Siemaszko, C. & DeJesus-Banos, B. (2020). Stay-at-home orders across the country What each state is doing or not doing amid widespread coronavirus lockdowns. Nbcnews. https://www.nbcnews.com/health/health-news/here-are-stay-home-orders-across-country-n1168736
- Yu, E., Moon, K., Oah, S., & Lee, Y. (2013). An evaluation of the effectiveness of an automated observation and feedback system on safe sitting postures. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 33(2), 104-127. https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2013.785873